SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LUIS CABALLERO Appellant,

CASE NO: SC01-651

Lower Tribunal No: 95-15295CF10C

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LEWIS A. FISHMAN, ESQ. LEWIS A. FISHMAN, P.A. Attorney for Appellant 8211 West Broward Blvd. Suite 420 Plantation, Florida 33324-2741 (954) 370-6600 (954) 475-8402 - Facsimile

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Counsel for the Appellant/Defendant, LUIS CABALLERO, certifies that the following persons and entities have or may have an interest in the outcome of this case:

- Honorable Susan Lebow
 (Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, trial judge)
- Celia Terenzio, Esq.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Luis Caballero, together with co-defendants Isaac Brown and Robert Messer, was charged by indictment No. 95-15295CF10C filed on September 7, 1995, with murder in the first degree, kidnapping, robbery, burglary, and sexual battery. After a trial before the Honorable Susan Lebow Appellant was found guilty of murder in the first degree, kidnapping, robbery and burglary as charged, on February 22, 2000. (T. 1507-1508). The trial court granted a directed verdict as to the sexual battery count. (T. 1378).

Thereafter, penalty phase proceedings were held and on March 28, 2000, the jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of eight to four. (T. 1803). After holding a <u>Spencer</u> hearing as required by law, the trial court sentenced Appellant on February 15, 2001 to death on the first degree murder count, to life imprisonment on the kidnapping count, and to two fifteen year prison terms on the robbery and burglary counts, all to run consecutively. (R. 944-955).

This appeal was timely filed. (R. 960).

The parties are designated as they appear in this Court. Appellant is Luis Caballero, the defendant below and Appellee is the State of Florida, plaintiff below. All references are to the record on appeal and transcripts of the proceedings below

and are designated "R." and "T.," respectively followed by the appropriate page number(s).

The co-defendants below, Isaac Brown and Robert Messer, were tried separately. Neither co-defendant was convicted of first degree murder and so neither co-defendant has a companion or related case before this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

GUILT PHASE

West Palm Beach Police Department Detective Gary Noel testified that he began the investigation of the apparent disappearance of the victim in this case, Denise Rose O'Neill, on July 14, 1995, when he spoke with John Spotto, the manager of Charley's Crab in Palm Beach where Ms. O'Neill was employed. Mr. Spotto lodged the first missing person's complaint regarding Ms. O'Neill. (T. 915-917). Detective Noel went to the victim's apartment on Saturday July 15, and had a photographer take pictures of the apartment. He saw messages on Ms. O'Neill's machine and, although her car was missing, he saw no obvious signs of foul play in the apartment itself. (T. 918-921). Later Detective Noel called the early alert center for CitiBank and indicated he wanted to know about activity on the victim's credit card. (T. 922). Detective Noel received information that the credit card was being used. He let the credit card company know to keep the card active so that the police would be able to continue to track the movements of anyone using the card. At a later time they enlisted the aid of the United States Secret Service in tracking activity on the credit card. (T. 925-926).

About noon on July 15, 1995, a patrol sergeant found the victim's car in an apartment complex across the street from the victim's apartment complex. The car,

a Chevy Cavalier, was impounded, processed and photographed. (T. 925-928, 931-932). Several items were found in the trunk including a box of shoes from the Capezio Factory Outlet charged on the victim's account on July 13, 1995. (T. 932-935). Detective Noel also found a receipt in the victim's apartment for dinner in Palm Beach on the night of July 12, 1995, which had been charged to the victim's Visa account. (T. 937-938).

At about the same time on July 15, 1995, Broward Sheriff's Office Detective Stewart Mosher got involved in investigating the death of a person later identified as the victim in this case, Denise Rose O'Neill, by responding to the C-14 canal located on the northern edge of Tamarac (T 858-860). Detective Mosher took photographs of the canal and surrounding area near the Sawgrass Expressway. He also photographed the victim's body in the canal and during the preliminary post-mortem examination conducted along the canal bank. (T. 860-863). The photographs of the body taken after removal from the canal showed that the victim's hands and feet were bound and the victim's body was wrapped in what appeared to be a pink sheet. The bindings included electrical cords, shoelaces and a pink and purple dog leash. Also, the victim's clothing appeared to have been cut in several sections along the right hand side in the crotch area (T. 863-864).

A teletype was sent, and was received by the West Palm Beach Police Department which informed all the police departments in the area that a body had been found in Broward County. As a result of the teletype Detective Noel spoke to Detective O'Neil of the Broward Sheriff's Office, because the description in the teletype matched the description of Ms. O'Neill. (T. 939-940). Detective Noel agreed to meet with Broward detectives at the Broward County Medical Examiner's Office the next day. That day, July 16, 1995, Detective Noel and Detective Frasier from West Palm Beach met Detective O'Neil and Detective Bukata at the medical examiner's office. Using dental records of the victim's, Dr. Steve Rifkin of the Broward Medical Examiners Office positively identified the Broward County body as Denise Rose O'Neill. (T. 940-943, 1068-1069).

On July 15, the West Palm Beach Police had issued a press release and released the victim's photograph to newspapers and television stations in the area. (T. 944-945). After the identification of Ms. O'Neill as the victim, the police started canvassing her apartment complex, Clear Lake Colony. (T. 945). Also, as a result of various leads they received, detectives were sent to a Circle K store about five minutes away from the apartment complex and to an Albertson's about ten minutes from the apartment complex (T. 955), as well as to an ATM located inside the Palm Beach Mall

about five minutes away from the apartment complex. The Secret Service followed up at an X-tra in the Miami area. In the meantime, the Palm Beach and Broward detectives talked to neighbors and the apartment complex management. (T. 957-958). Detective Noel later watched all the news broadcasts and noticed that Appellant Luis Caballero, the victim's neighbor, was interviewed on different tv stations. (T. 945-946). Detective Noel saw the Defendant's television interviews on the following Monday morning. (T. 952).

In canvassing the area of the victim's apartment complex, detectives were especially looking for information about anyone who kept any reptiles or snakes. This was because the ligatures binding the victim included heat rocks, simulated rocks with attached electrical cords which are used to help cold blooded animals digest their food. (T. 1069-1070). During the canvass, Detective O'Neil saw Appellant and Rochelle Nolan. Appellant approached Detective O'Neil and indicated that he had not been spoken to by the police. (T. 959-960, 1070-1071). Appellant stated that he just knew the victim in passing as a neighbor from across the hall. He opined that she was "snotty." Appellant added that he was an unemployed car detailer. He told Detective O'Neil that he had never detailed the victim's car and had not been inside it. He described the car as a white Chevrolet and said he had last seen the victim in regular

clothes, as opposed to her work uniform. (T. 1070-1071). Appellant also told Detective O'Neil that he and Ms. Nolan had been boyfriend/girlfriend for about five years and had been living in the apartment, but that because of recent problems Ms. Nolan had recently been staying with her family in Plantation. (T. 1076). Appellant also said that he owned a couple of snakes and a dog, a chow. Appellant kept the snakes in an aquarium. (T. 1077-1078).

On Monday, July 17, 1995, Broward Sheriff's Office Crime Scene Detective Terry Gattis photographed Ms. O'Neill's 1992 Chevrolet Cavalier, processed it for fingerprints and looked for evidence. (T. 973, 981-982). Detective Gattis recovered various personal items of the victim, some handwritten business cards and business correspondence for credit cards with the victim's name. (T. 981). Detective Gattis processed for fingerprints numerous items including soda bottles, a brown box, a Liz Claiborne bag, a woman's Reebok shoe bag, a Capezio shoe bag, a tennis racket, the rearview mirror, a pair of sunglasses, a clothes basket, an umbrella, tennis ball and camera in the trunk, a Swap Shop advertisement and an Albertson's advertisement. Thereafter, on Wednesday, July 19, 1995, Detective Gattis went to the victim's apartment building and collected from apartment 17 a total of 66 latent fingerprint lifts. The latent fingerprints were turned over to latent examiner Sandra Yonkman. (T. 984).

Broward Sheriff's Office homicide detective Glenn Bukata assumed the role of lead investigator in the O'Neill case on July 15, 1995. He went to the area where Ms. O'Neill's body was found and attended the autopsy. (T. 985-989). At the autopsy, Detective Bukata saw ligatures on the outside of the pink sheet in which the body had been found. These were heat rocks, electrical cords at the end of which were rocks containing a heating device used to warm reptiles. Other ligatures were a brown woven belt and black shoelaces around the victim's ankles, and also a purple and pink dog leash around the victim's wrists, which were bound in front of her. The victim was wearing a dark blue bathing suit which had been pulled down just below her breasts. The bottom of the bathing suit had been pulled up and the crotch area had been cut out. (T. 991).

Detective Bukata first focused on Appellant as a suspect after seeing Appellant on the television interviews that Detective Noel showed him. (T. 993-996). Detective Bukata heard Appellant say in those video tapes that he, Appellant, used to say hello to the victim, that he was concerned and that he had no idea what happened to her. (T. 996). During a canvass at the apartment building Detective Bukata knocked on Appellant's apartment door, which was across from the victim's, and heard a dog

bark. He also obtained the lease for Appellant's apartment and had a comparison made between Appellant's fingerprints and latents taken from the victim's apartment. (T. 996-998).

On July 19, Detective O'Neil and Detective Bukata were at the apartment complex and were admitted into Appellant's apartment by Ms. Nolan. Once inside they saw two aquariums and a black dog. Appellant then returned to the apartment complex, spoke to the detectives, and was asked to accompany the detectives to Broward County. (T. 1080-1082).

Isaac Brown, Appellant's co-defendant, was also there and was asked to come back to Broward as well. (T. 961-963, 1000-1001). After the hour long ride to the Broward Sheriff's Office during which there was no conversation, at about 6:25 p.m. Detective Bukata advised Appellant of his Miranda rights. (T. 1001-1002, ,1004-1005, 1080-1082). After reading Appellant his Miranda rights, Detective Bukata went up to West Palm Beach so that he would be present during the search of Appellant's apartment.

After Detective Bukata read Appellant his Miranda rights around 6:25 p.m., Detective O'Neil went and interviewed Ms. Nolan for about an hour. (T. 1083-1086). After that, and beginning at about 8:38 p.m., Detective O'Neil and his sergeant

interviewed Appellant for about an hour. Appellant told Detective O'Neil that he had been unemployed, that his car had been repossessed and his telephone disconnected. He said that he hardly knew the victim and described her as "snotty," and not friendly. (T. 1087). Appellant said that he was behind in his rent but that he had paid the July rent, and that after Rochelle left he had a friend come and stay with him to help pay expenses. (T. 1087-1088). As to the victim, Appellant said he had never been inside her car and that he had not seen her since the previous Tuesday. He said that he had heard that a security guard at the complex named Philip had been known to go inside women's apartments at the complex and rape them. (T. 1090).

Appellant also said that Rochelle had gone to Plantation on the Monday before the incident because of ongoing problems. (T. 1088-1090). The friend who moved in with Appellant was Isaac Brown. Appellant also mentioned a friend named Rob who had been in his apartment around that time. Appellant had met Rob at the car dealership he used to work for and Rob had introduced Appellant to Brown. Rob turned out to be the co-defendant Robert Messer. (T. 1088-1090). This interview went from 8:38 thru 8:58 p.m. and was not recorded. At 9:15 p.m. the interview resumed and concluded at 9:55p.m. and was not tape recorded. (T. 1092-1093). Detective O'Neil would not tell Appellant what the evidence was, but told the Appellant to think

about the evidence the police had at the scene and in the victim's car. (T. 1095-1097). After another break from about 9:45 to 10:10 p.m. the questioning went on, unrecorded, until about 12:15 a.m. (T. 1098-1099). During this statement Detective O'Neil told Appellant about the property recovered from Appellant's apartment. He kept telling Appellant to tell the truth and told Appellant that he, Detective O'Neil, did not believe that he wanted the murder to happen. At about 10:45 p.m., Appellant told Detective O'Neil that he would tell what happened but wanted the sergeant to leave the interview room. The sergeant left. (T. 1101-1102).

Appellant then said how he was with Brown inside his apartment when Brown saw the victim walking upstairs to her apartment, grabbed her, brought her into Appellant's apartment and tied her up. Appellant said that he went into the victim's apartment and located some "cards" including a bank card. Appellant recounted how he went to the West Palm Beach Mall to withdraw \$300.00 and then to an Albertson's ATM and withdrew \$400.00 on her cards. When he returned he found the victim had been tied up with more ligatures. During the course of the evening Brown and Appellant discussed how the victim was going to be killed. Appellant added how Brown needed \$2000.00 to buy an Astro van and that Brown was desperate for money. Appellant blamed Brown for the murder. (T. 1102-1103).

After speaking until about 12:15 a.m., another break was taken. Thereafter, the tape recorded statement began for an hour and twenty minutes, at which Detective Bukata was also present. (T. 1104-1106).

During this tape recorded statement, Appellant, acknowledged that his Miranda rights were read earlier, that he voluntarily came down from West Palm Beach and that he had been treated fairly and was making the statement of his own free will, without coercion. He then went on to state the following: Appellant lived in his apartment for four months with his fiancé Rochelle Nolan. She was currently living at her mother's house. Appellant had been unemployed for one month and had last worked at Moran Auto Plaza as an auto detailer for a month. Before that he worked as a warehouseman and sometime detailer. Ms. Nolan was not employed. His rent was \$515.00 a month for his one bedroom apartment. He had no conversation with the victim because she did not respond when he said hello. She was very quiet. He had never been inside her car, a white Chevrolet Cavalier. He also did not know where she worked. (T. 1106-1113).

The incident occurred on a Thursday. The night before, Appellant said, Isaac was planning to rob the victim. Appellant described Isaac as a black male, about 6 feet tall and about 180-195 pounds and 20 years old. Nolan had known Isaac for two

months and described him as a pretty good friend. (T. 1113-1114). According to Appellant, Isaac wanted to rob the victim because he needed \$2,000.00 to buy an Astro van. Isaac had been at Appellant's residence about three times in the previous two months, and picked the victim because she lived next door to the Appellant and lived by herself. (T. 1115-1116).

Appellant said he was just joking about robbing the victim, but Isaac was serious. Appellant felt queasy, but Isaac reassured him. The original idea was to get into the victim's apartment. Appellant did not want it to occur in his home and was just going to be the lookout. (T. 1115-1117). Appellant was surprised when he turned around and saw Brown on the floor struggling with the victim. Isaac told Appellant that he had heard the victim coming up the stairs. The victim was carrying a laundry basket and was wearing white shorts and a white t-shirt with a bathing suit on underneath and brown shoes. (T. 1118-1119). Brown had the victim on her stomach. Appellant got hysterical. They tied her up. Isaac covered her mouth and they tied her legs with a towel. Her hands were tied with pantyhose and Brown gagged her with a towel or rag. The victim asked to be left alone and that she would give them anything as long as she was not hurt. Appellant told her that nothing would happen to her and that she should do what Isaac said. The victim cooperated. (T. 1120-1121).

The victim gave information about her credit cards and bank accounts, including that she had a \$3,000.00 dollar limit on her Visa card. She said there was a brown box in her apartment and it had a pin number written down in it. She also said that her checking account had \$500.00, and she told Appellant to do what he had to do and come back and let her go. Appellant left to get cash using the credit card. He took her car. The keys had been in a little pouch in the laundry basket (T. 1123-1124). Appellant went to the Palm Beach Lakes Mall on Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard and went to the ATM near the food court. He got to the mall at about 4:45 p.m., the victim having been taken into his apartment between 4:00 and 4:30. Appellant took out \$300 using the Visa card, then went to Albertson's located on Okeechobee Boulevard and Military Trail. He used the same card to take out another \$400.00. He left the victim's car at the Palm Beach Lakes Mall and took a cab back home. When he returned Appellant found that Isaac had the victim tied up. She was sitting up with her ankles tied and with her wrists tied in front of her. She was tied up with a pillow case, the cord from an electric razor, pantyhose and the dog leash around her ankles. The leash was neon pink, blue and yellow and made out of nylon. The pillow case was white with blue, pink and white stripes. The victim was gagged. Her shoes were off but the rest of her clothes were on. (T. 1125-1128). It was now nearing 7:00 p.m.

Brown told Appellant that the victim had put up a fight and had scratched Brown when he let her use the bathroom. By the time of the Appellant's return, the victim was very quiet and cooperative. Brown told her that they decided to wait until night and that they would then take her somewhere and drop her off. Appellant tried not to think about what would happen. He was troubled because he knew that the victim was going to be killed. (T. 1129-1131). They waited until about 8:30 or 9:00. Brown started talking about how she would be killed. Brown asked Appellant to do it. They debated who would kill her and Brown said he wanted Appellant to kill her. Brown put his hands on a heat rock cord. The heat rock helps snakes digest their food. Appellant had two snakes in different aquariums. He described the heat rocks as one burgundy and one tan with two and a half foot cords. (T. 1130-1134).

Around 8:30 or 8:45 Appellant said he was too scared. Brown said he would do it if Appellant gave Brown more of the victim's money. Brown put on rubber gloves and grabbed the victim. Brown wanted to do it. (T. 1134). The discussion about killing the victim had not been in her presence. It had occurred in the kitchen while she was in the bedroom. (T. 1135). Brown put the victim on the floor with her feet and hands tied in front of her. She was gagged and blindfolded. Brown put the heat rock rope around her neck from behind, and used a lot of force on the victim.

After about two minutes during which the victim fought, Isaac crossed his hands and wrapped the cord more around his fist. The victim squirmed. Appellant thought the whole process took ten to twelve minutes. (T. 1135-1138).

When it appeared the victim was dead, Appellant and Brown left to get something to eat at the Taco Bell, but Appellant couldn't eat. A friend named John from the apartment complex took them to the mall to get the victim's car. (T. 1140-1142).

Appellant and Brown tried to figure out how to get the victim to the car and they decided to put her in the car and take her as far from the apartment complex as possible. They decided to take her away around 5:00 or 5:30 a.m. They wrapped the victim up in a pink sheet and bedspread, tied her ankles, used a heat rock to wrap around the blanket or bedspread and also used shoelaces from the Reeboks. Appellant did not remember if the dog leash was still on her but they did use two heat rocks, one on her feet and one on her upper body. The shoelace was around her legs. Appellant also did not remember the belt. Appellant carried the victim down to the car by carrying her over his shoulder. (T. 1142-1146).

They put the victim in the trunk. Appellant drove and Brown sat in the front passenger seat. They drove to the Sawgrass Expressway in Broward and pulled over

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