SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-651

LUIS CABALLERO,

Appellant,

- versus -

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MELANIE ANN DALE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0168556 1515 N. Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Fl 33401

Counsel for Appellee

Preliminary Statement

Appellant, defendant in the trial court below, will be referred to as "Appellant", "Defendant" or "Caballero". Appellee, the State of Florida, will be referred to as the "State". References to the record will be by the symbol "R", to the transcript will be by the symbol "T", to any supplemental record or transcript will be by the symbols "SR" or "ST", and to Aults' brief will be by the symbol "IB", followed by the appropriate page numbers.

Statement Of The Case and Facts

Appellee accepts Appellant's statements of the case and facts for purposes of this appeal, subject to the additions, corrections, and/or clarifications in the Argument section.

Summary of the Argument

<u>Point I:</u> The prosecutors comment characterizing Caballero's confession as uncontradicted was a proper comment on the evidence and fair reply to defense counsel's closing argument.

<u>Point II</u>: The murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner as is was the product of calm and cool reflection. Furthermore, the trial court did not improperly double the aggravating circumstances.

1

<u>Point III</u>: The trial court properly considered and rejected Caballero's age as a mitigating circumstance as there was no evidence to support the mitigator.

<u>Point IV</u>: The trial court properly reasoned that Caballero could introduce Brown's conviction of second degree murder and the life sentence he received, to prove that a death sentence would be disproportionate. Furthermore, the trial court properly found that if such evidence was introduced, the state could then admit Brown's confession to rebut the evidence.

Point V: This court can not conduct a true culpability analysis because Brown was convicted by a jury of second degree murder. The death sentence is proportionate. Point VI: Florida's death penalty statute is constitutional.

<u>POINT I</u>

THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENTS DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT WERE NOT COMMENTS ON APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT, NOR DID THE COMMENTS SHIFT THE BURDEN OF PROOF. (RESTATED)

Caballero argues that the trial court erred when it overruled his objections to the prosecutor's remarks during closing arguments. Caballero claims that the prosecutor impermissibly commented on his right to remain silent and improperly shifted the burden of proof when he argued that the evidence presented regarding Caballero's statements to law enforcement were "uncontradicted".

However, Caballero's claim that the prosecutor improperly commented on his right to remain silent was not preserved below. In this case, defense counsel never argued that the prosecutor improperly commented on Appellant's right to remain silent, rather she objected that the state was shifting the burden of proof (T. Vol. 21 p. 1446, 1462). It is well established that for an issue to be preserved for appeal, it must be presented to the lower court and "the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved." <u>Archer v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1993) (quoting <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985)). <u>See also, Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Hence, Appellant's claim is not properly before this court. <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 771 So.

2d 596 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2000)(finding that Mitchell's claim that the prosecutor's argument amounted to comments on the fact that he did not testify at trial, was not preserved because no such objection was made below, rather, Mitchell objected that the comments shifted the burden of proof.)

Moreover, Appellant's claim is meritless as the prosecutor's argument was a proper comment on the evidence presented regarding Caballero's confession and the trial court properly denied his request for a mistrial. A trial court's ruling on a motion for mistrial is subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999); Thomas v. State, 748 So. 2d 970, 980 (Fla. 1999) (explaining that a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the trial court's discretion and should not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion); Hamilton v. State, 703 So. 2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1997) (noting that a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the trial court's discretion); United States v. Puentes, 50 F.3d 1567, 1577 (11th Cir. 1995) (stating that a district court's ruling on a motion for a mistrial is reviewed for abuse of discretion); United States. v. Honer, 225 F.3d 549, 555 (5th Cir. 2000) (reviewing the denial of a motion for mistrial for abuse of discretion). Moreover, wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). It is within the judge's discretion to control the comments made to a jury, and we will not interfere unless an abuse of discretion is shown. Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902,

904 (Fla. 1990); Breedlove, 413 So. 2d at 8." Moore v. State, 701 So. 2d 545, 551 (Fla. 1997). Under the abuse of discretion standard of review, the appellate court pays substantial deference to the trial court's ruling. A trial court's determination will be upheld by the appellate court "unless the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980); Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla. 2000), citing Huff v. State, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990). The abuse of discretion standard is one of the most difficult for an appellant to satisfy. Ford v. Ford, 700 So. 2d 191, 195 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). A defendant has the constitutional right to decline to testify against himself in a criminal proceeding, therefore, "any comment on, or which is fairly susceptible of being interpreted as referring to, a defendant's failure to testify is error and is strongly discouraged". <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 753 So.2d 29, 37 (Fla.2000) (quoting State v. Marshall, 476 So.2d 150, 153 The "fairly susceptible" test is liberally applied, hence, a comment (Fla.1985). on the failure to contradict the evidence becomes an impermissible comment on the defendant's failure to testify where the evidence is uncontradicted on a point that only the defendant can contradict. Id. at 38. Further, in Rodriguez, this court recognized that it is not error to comment on the uncontradicted nature of the evidence, which was

permitted in <u>White v. State</u>, 377 So.2d 1149 (Fla.1979), however, a reference to the uncontroverted nature of evidence where only the defendant possesses the information to contradict the government evidence, as described in <u>State v. Marshall</u>, 476 So.2d 150 (Fla.1985), are impermissible arguments, which are fairly susceptible to interpretation as comment on the defendant's failure to testify. <u>See Rodriguez</u>, 753 So.2d at 38.

In the case at bar, the trial court did not abuse it's discretion because the prosecutor was properly commenting on the uncontradicted nature of the evidence as it was presented at trial and rebutting Caballero's claim that he did not want to kill Denise. Here, the argument is not fairly susceptible to being interpreted as a comment on Caballero's failure to testify at trial. Rather, the record reflects that during closing arguments, the prosecutor reviewed the multiple statements that Caballero made to the police and while reviewing how Denise was bound and her credit cards were taken, he states;

"You can tell by what a man intends by what he does, not by **what he desires**. What does he do? According to the statement, uncontradicted, what does he do?"

(T. Vol. 21 pp. 1444-1446) (Emphasis added).

Furthermore, in this case, Caballero waived his *Miranda* rights and freely and voluntarily confessed to the crime (T. Vol. 19 p. 1083-1084, 1107). Additionally,

defense counsel Carpenter argued during closing that Caballero did not want to kill Denise (T. Vol. 21 p. 1413). Therefore, the prosecutor's comment was a fair reply to the argument that Caballero presented. Hence, the prosecutor's comment that Caballero's own confession was uncontradicted can not be fairly susceptible to being deemed a comment on his silence as it was a proper comment on the evidence that was before the jury, as well as a fair reply to the argument presented by Caballero during closing arguments..

Appellant relies on <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 753 So. 2d 29, 37 (Fla. 2000) and <u>Marshall v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1985), to support his claim that because the prosecutor commented on his confession, and neither Appellant nor his co-defendant's testified at trial, then the comments constitute an improper comment on his failure to testify. However, Appellant's reliance is misplaced as the facts in those cases are distinguishable from the instant case. In neither <u>Rodriguez</u>, nor <u>Marshall</u> did the defendants confess to the crimes. In <u>Rodriguez</u>, this court did not find that a prosecutor may not comment on the uncontradicted nature of the evidence as whole, rather it found that where the evidence is uncontradicted on a point that only the defendant can contradict then the comment is impermissible. <u>Rodriguez</u>, 753 So. 2d at 38. In this case, the prosecutor commented on Caballero's own statement, which was freely and voluntarily given to the police, hence, it can not be deemed a comment

on his right to remain silent as he waived that right. (T. Vol. 19 pp. 1083-1111). Moreover, Caballero was not the only defendant in this case, hence, he is not the only person who could contradict how the crime occurred. Further, as evidenced by points IV and V of this appeal, Appellant wanted to argue that Isaac Brown was equally culpable but did not want to enter Browns confession into evidence as it would have shown that Caballero was the more culpable defendant. Hence, there was no abuse of discretion as the prosecutor properly commented on the evidence as it was presented to the jury.

Finally, should this court find that the prosecutor's comment was error, any error was harmless. It is well settled that such erroneous comments do not require an automatic reversal. <u>State v. DiGuilo</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1137 (Fla. 1986); <u>Marshall</u>, 476 So. 2d at 153. The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact." <u>DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d at 1139. "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." <u>Id</u>.

The test must be conscientiously applied and the reasoning of the court set forth for the guidance of all concerned and for the benefit of further appellate review. The test is not sufficiency-of-the-evidence, a correct result, a not clearly wrong, a substantial evidence, a more probable than not, a clear and convincing, or even an overwhelming evidence test. Harmless error is not a device for the appellate court to substitute itself for the trier-of-fact by simply weighing the evidence. <u>Id</u>.

In the instant case, it is clear from the overwhelming evidence presented that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Here, Caballero confessed that he and Brown decided to rob Denise the night before they murdered and robbed her (T. Vol. 19 p. 1113, 1116). Caballero confessed that they chose d Denise because she lived across the hall from him and it would be easy to abduct her (T. Vol. 19 p. 1115). When Denise was walking up the stairs, Appellant saw her coming and Brown grabbed her and dragged her into Appellant's apartment with her laundry basket (T. Vol. 19 p 1117-1120). They tied her up with towels and pantyhose from her laundry basket and gagged her (T. Vol 19 p. 1120-1121). Begging to be let go and Denise told them she would do anything they wanted and begged not to be hurt (T. Vol. 19 p. 1121). Denise gave Caballero information regarding her bank account and credit cards and told him that there was a box in her apartment with the pin numbers (T. Vol. 19 p. 1123-1124). Denise told Caballero to do what he had to do and begged him to let her go when he was finished (T. Vol 19 p. 1125). Caballero left with Denise's keys, went to her apartment to get the ATM information, then drove her car to various ATM locations to withdraw cash (T. Vol. 19 1125-1126). When Caballero returned to his apartment, Brown had retied Denise with a pillow case, a cord from an electric razor, pantyhose, and a dog leash (T. Vol. 19 p. 1125-1128). Caballero confessed that he

knew that Denise had to be killed and debated with Brown how they would kill her (T. Vol. 19 1130-1134). Initially, Appellant confessed that he watched while Brown killed Denise, however, after a break he confessed that he participated in strangling Denise. Caballero confessed that he was in front of Denise and Brown was behind her. Caballero covered the victims mouth to muffle her screams and pulled her head forward while Brown pulled back with a cord. The first cord broke, and a second one was used. Caballero also confessed that after they killed Denise he had sex with her and evidence showed that DNA found in the semen matched Caballero's. (T. Vol 20 p. 1178-1179, 1297-1308). Caballero also confessed that he used his body weight to hold Denise down while she was being killed (T. Vol 20 p. 1180-1187). It took between ten and twelve minutes to kill Denise and after she was dead Caballero and Brown left the apartment to get something to eat and figure out how to dispose of the body (T. Vol. 19 p. 1140-1142). Between 5:00 and 5:30 AM, Caballero and Brown wrapped Denise in a sheet and bedspread, bound her ankles, and also bound her with a heat rock cord and shoelaces (T. Vol. 19 p. 1142-1146). They put Denise's body in the trunk then transported her to Fort Lauderdale where they threw her body into a canal (T. Vol. 19 pp. 1148-1150). After they disposed of her body, they went to an ATM machine and withdrew another \$400.00 using Denise's Visa card (T. Vol. 19 p. 1155-1158).

Moreover, Denise's gym card was found on the floor in Caballero's bedroom (T. Vol. 18 p. 872). Shoes were found with missing laces and the testimony established that Denise was bound with shoelaces (T. Vol. 18 pp. 872-895). Sandra Yonkman was qualified as a latent print expert and testified that Caballero's fingerprints were on Denise's gym card, in her car, and were found in her apartment (T. Vol. 20 pp. 1272-1276). Hence, in this case, based on Caballero's extensive confession coupled with the additional evidence presented, there is no possibility that any error affected the verdict in this case. The conviction and death sentence should be affirmed.

<u>POINT II</u>

THE CAPITAL FELONY WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.(RESTATED)

First, appellant argues that the evidence is insufficient to support the trial court's finding of the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstance ("CCP"). Second, appellant argues that the trial court improperly doubled the aggravators of CCP, heinous, atrocious, or cruel ("HAC"), and avoid arrest, because the trial court relied on the same facts to support each aggravator. These claims are meritless as the evidence supports the trial court's finding of "CCP" and the trial court did not improperly double the aggravators.

Whether an aggravating circumstance exists is a factual finding reviewed under

the competent, substantial evidence test.

When reviewing aggravating factors on appeal, this Court in <u>Alston v. State</u>, 723 So. 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998), reiterated the standard of review, noting that it "is not this Court's function to reweigh the evidence to determine whether the State proved each aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt that is the trial court's job. Rather, our task on appeal is to review the record to determine whether the trial court applied the right rule of law for each aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding," <u>quoting Willacy v. State</u>, 696 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 522 U.S. 970 (1997).

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